

BEFORE THE NATIONAL ADJUDICATORY COUNCIL
FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

In the Matter of

Department of Enforcement,

Complainant,

vs.

Jim Jinkook Seol
Lake Forest, CA,

Respondent.

DECISION

Complaint No. 2014039839101

Dated: March 5, 2019

Registered representative participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, engaged in undisclosed outside business activities, and provided false statements on his firm's annual compliance questionnaires in response to questions concerning the private securities transactions and outside business activities. Held, findings and sanctions affirmed.

Appearances

For the Complainant: Tiffany Buxton, Esq., Richard Margolies, Esq., Leo Orenstein, Esq., Joseph Strauss, Esq., Department of Enforcement, Financial Industry Regulatory Authority

For the Respondent: Lisa Haines, Esq., Christopher Robertson, Esq.

Decision

In September 2011, while associated with Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. ("Ameriprise"), Jim Jinkook Seol formed Western Regional Center, Inc. ("WRCI"), a California corporation, and began serving in several capacities, including WRCI's CEO and president. Between June 2012 and December 2013, Seol, through WRCI, solicited investments in California Energy Investment Fund 1, LP, a limited partnership that Seol formed to serve as a qualifying investment facility under the US Citizenship and Immigration Services' Employment-Based Category 5, or EB-5, program. Seol sold \$100 million in units of California Energy Investment Fund to 200 investors. In addition, in October 2013, Seol, through WRCI, entered into a consulting agreement with an entity named YL Partners, Inc. Seol agreed to assist YL Partners with the identification and solicitation of five qualified foreign nationals to develop and operate 10 yogurt shops in the US.

This case focuses on three legal issues: (1) whether Seol's activities with WRCI, including his solicitation and sales of investments in California Energy Investment Fund, violated FINRA's prohibition against undisclosed private securities transactions; (2) whether Seol's activities with WRCI, including his role as the company's president and CEO and his consulting agreement with YL Partners, violated FINRA's prohibition against undisclosed outside business activities; and (3) whether Seol provided false statements on Ameriprise's annual compliance questionnaires in response to questions concerning his private securities transactions and outside business activities. In the proceedings below, the Hearing Panel determined that Seol participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, engaged in undisclosed outside business activities, and provided false statements on Ameriprise's annual compliance questionnaires. The Hearing Panel barred Seol in all capacities for the violations. After an independent review of the record, we affirm the Hearing Panel's findings and sanctions.

I. Factual Background

When the conduct in this case occurred, Seol had been in the securities industry for nearly 15 years. In April 1997, Seol entered the industry when he registered as a general securities representative with Ameriprise. Seol remained associated with Ameriprise until May 2014, when the firm discharged him for the conduct at issue here. During his time in the securities industry, Seol has been associated only with Ameriprise. Seol is not currently registered or associated with any FINRA member firm.

A. Ameriprise's Written Supervisory Procedures

Between September 2011 and June 2014, the period relevant to the conduct in this case, Ameriprise's written supervisory procedures ("WSPs") prohibited registered representatives from participating in private transactions. Section 12.1.21 of the WSPs, entitled "Private Securities Transactions," explained, with reference to NASD Rule 3040, that "all securities products and services sold by a registered representative must 'go through' or be known to the firm . . . , so the firm can maintain appropriate books and records and supervise the transaction." Ameriprise expressly prohibited registered representatives from selling any securities not offered by the firm, regardless of compensation, and warned that "[f]ailure to comply with this policy constitutes 'selling away' and will result in disciplinary action that may include termination."

Ameriprise's WSPs also required registered representatives to disclose any outside business activity and obtain written approval from the firm before engaging in it. Specifically, Section 12.3.3 of the WSPs, entitled "Business Ownerships," required registered representatives to "disclose any business ownership or co-ownership, regardless of whether they receive compensation from that activity." Section 13.1 of the WSPs, entitled "Disclosure of Outside Activities" and referencing FINRA Rule 3270, enumerated activities that were "generally allowable that must be disclosed," including, without limitation, "[b]usiness ownership, regardless of whether compensation is received," and "[m]emberships on boards of directors and similar governing bodies, both non-profit and for profit." Ameriprise required registered representatives to complete "Outside Business Activities Disclosures" on an annual basis as well as in advance of commencing any new outside activity.

B. Seol Incorporates WRCI

In September 2011, while associated with Ameriprise, Seol incorporated WRCI in California. At the time of WRCI's incorporation, Seol certified that he was WRCI's CEO, CFO, president, secretary, and its only director. Seol held a 35 percent ownership interest in WRCI. As of April 2014, WRCI had four employees, including Seol. Seol operated WRCI out of the same office in which he conducted his work for Ameriprise.

C. The EB-5 Program

Seol formed WRCI to solicit foreign national investments under the EB-5 program. Congress created the EB-5 program in 1990 to stimulate the US economy through foreign investors' job creation and capital investments. The US Citizenship and Immigration Services, an agency of the US Department of Homeland Security, oversees the EB-5 program. The EB-5 program permits foreign investors who invest capital in new job-creating commercial enterprises in the US to receive conditional permanent residence in the US, and, ultimately, become lawful permanent residents of the US.

To qualify for the EB-5 program, a foreign investor must invest at least: (1) \$1,000,000 in capital in a new commercial enterprise that creates at least 10 full-time jobs; or (2) \$500,000 in capital in a new commercial enterprise located within a US Citizenship and Immigration Services-approved "regional center" that directly or indirectly creates at least 10 full-time jobs. The regulations implementing the EB-5 program explain that a foreign investor "invests" when the investor "contribute[s] capital," and it requires that foreign investors place their invested capital "at risk for the purpose of generating a return."¹

D. Seol Forms California Energy Investment Fund and WRC Investment Fund to Capitalize the Genesis Solar Energy Project

The Genesis Solar Energy Project is a 280-megawatt solar power plant owned and operated by NextEra Energy Capital Holdings, LLC, in Riverside County, California. The Genesis Solar Energy Project is a US Citizenship and Immigration Services-approved regional center.

In early 2012, Seol discussed securing EB-5 program funding for the Genesis Solar Energy Project with NextEra Energy Capital Holdings. In February 2012, Seol formed two entities to solicit foreign investors to obtain EB-5 program funding for the Genesis Solar Energy Project. First, Seol formed California Energy Investment Fund as a for-profit entity to pool qualifying capital investments from EB-5 program foreign investors for the purpose of loaning the pooled investments to NextEra Energy Capital Holdings for the Genesis Solar Energy Project. Second, Seol formed WRC Investment Fund 1, LLC to serve as California Energy Investment Fund's "general partner."² Once fully funded, California Energy Investment Fund

¹ 8 C.F.R. §§ 204.6(e), 204.6(j)(2) (2018).

² The terms of the relationship between California Energy Investment Fund and WRC Investment Fund are detailed in a "limited partnership agreement" between California

planned to loan NextEra Energy Capital Holdings \$100 million in capital for the Genesis Solar Energy Project.

E. California Energy Investment Fund's Confidential Offering Memorandum

To capitalize the Genesis Solar Energy Project, California Energy Investment Fund held an offering in July 2012. California Energy Investment Fund authorized the issuance and sale to qualified foreign investors of up to 200 limited partnership units for a total offering amount of \$100 million. The minimum capital investment per unit was \$500,000, accompanied by up to \$65,000 per unit for fees and expenses associated with the investment and EB-5 program process, including a management fee of up to \$4,000 payable to WRCI.³

The offering memorandum for the sale of California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units states that California Energy Investment Fund "has been formed as a commercial for profit entity governed by the provisions of the [l]imited [p]artnership [a]greement attached to the [o]ffering and will engage solely in the business of making an investment or series of investments in the [Genesis Solar Energy] Project under the [EB-5] [p]rogram in the form of loans." The offering memorandum adds that "[t]he [l]imited [p]artnership's investment objective is to invest in the [Genesis Energy Solar] Project[] which create[s] no fewer than ten (10) direct and/or indirect jobs per EB-5 investor in order to permit investors to qualify for immigration to the United States . . . and to permit [l]imited [p]artners to participate in a commercial for profit enterprise."

1. The Authority Vested in California Energy Investment Fund's General Partner (WRCI) and Limited Partners

The offering memorandum for the sale of California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units contemplates two categories of partnership – general partners and limited partners. WRC Investment Fund was California Energy Investment Fund's "sole general partner." In turn, WRCI was the "sole member" of WRC Investment Fund.⁴ Based on these delegations, WRCI was California Energy Investment Fund's de facto general partner. As

[cont'd]

Investment Fund and WRC Investment Fund, dated April 2012, and a "confidential offering memorandum" for California Energy Investment Fund, dated July 2012. Seol assisted in drafting the offering memorandum by reviewing the draft offering memorandum and providing information to WRCI's outside counsel regarding the Genesis Solar Energy Project.

³ The offering memorandum attaches several documents, including the following documents that explain the investments, projects, and relationships among the entities involved in the transactions: (1) the limited partnership agreement between California Energy Investment Fund and WRC Investment Fund, dated April 2012 (see note 3); (2) a cooperative business agreement between WRCI and California Energy Investment Center, LLC, dated June 2012; (3) a letter from the US Citizenship and Immigration Services approving California Energy Investment Center as a regional center, dated August 2009; and (4) the offering's subscription agreement.

general partner, WRCI was vested with broad authority to conduct California Energy Investment Fund's business activities, including "the full unrestricted power and exclusive authority to . . . carry on the activities of the [p]artnership and to do and to perform any and all things necessary for, incidental to, or connected with carrying on the activities of the partnership." This broad grant of authority endowed WRCI with the exclusive power to make all decisions concerning the selection of California Energy Investment Fund's investments, to receive a one percent ownership interest in California Energy Investment Fund, and to obtain management fees "paid from the cash flow from the return on investment of the [p]artnership."⁵

In contrast, each foreign investor who made a "qualifying investment" in California Energy Investment Fund pursuant to the EB-5 program became a "limited partner" of the fund. Limited partners had "the rights, powers, and duties normally granted to limited partners under the Uniform Limited Partnership Act," but limited partners had no authority to bind or undertake any obligation on behalf of California Energy Investment Fund. The offering memorandum states that limited partners "may take part in the business of [California Energy Investment Fund]," but may do so only by "ordinary resolution," which the confidential offering memorandum defines as "51 [percent] of [l]imited [p]artners voting."

2. The Allocation and Distribution of Expenses and Profits for California Energy Investment Fund's General Partners and Limited Partners

California Energy Investment Fund allocated expenses and distributed profits based on the categorization as a general partner or limited partner:

Allocation of Net Income/Loss, Sales Repayment. Interest income earned from [i]nvestments minus [p]artnership [e]xpenses shall be allocated 99% to the [l]imited [p]artner pro rata and 1% to the [g]eneral [p]artner. Net proceeds realized from the sale or repayment of an investment and profits or losses realized from an investment shall be allocated 100% to the limited partners pro rata until the cumulative amounts allocated and distributed to each limited partner equals \$500,000. Thereafter, such amounts shall be allocated 99% to the limited partners and 1% to the general partner.

In addition to distributions of California Energy Investment Fund's profits, limited partners of the fund also were entitled to receive "annual distributions" consisting of "all net income and scheduled payments received in connection with [i]nvestments of the [p]artnership

[cont'd]

⁴ The offering memorandum states that Seol formed WRC Investment Fund "solely for the purpose of acting as general partner of [California Energy Investment Fund]."

⁵ WRCI, as general partner, also had responsibility for "monitor[ing] [the] payment of interest and the overall collection of the loan [to NextEra Energy Capital Holdings], as well as longer term plans for the partnership to consider future loan opportunities for its future ongoing business activities."

for the previous fiscal year . . . net of any required tax withholdings and any amounts which, in the opinion of the [g]eneral [p]artner, are required to meet the ongoing obligations (whether certain or contingent) of the [p]artnership.”⁶

3. The Risks Associated with Investing in California Energy Investment Fund’s Offering for the Genesis Solar Energy Project

The offering memorandum informed potential investors of the risks associated with participating in California Energy Investment Fund’s offering for the Genesis Solar Energy Project. The offering memorandum advised that “[a]n investment in [California Energy Investment Fund] involves certain risks . . .,” and it warned potential investors, “[i]n making an investment decision, investors must rely on such investor’s own examination of the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved.” The offering memorandum instructed potential investors to evaluate the Genesis Solar Energy Project, including “the detailed investment description, . . . form and structure of the investment, characteristics of [the] securities[,] and anticipated returns,” and it noted that the Genesis Energy Solar Project “may earn returns below market for similar investments.” The offering memorandum stressed that California Energy Investment Fund’s “[limited partnership] units [were] suitable only for investors who do not need liquidity in their investments and who can afford the loss of their entire investment.”

The offering memorandum also advised potential investors that California Energy Investment Fund’s “offering will include offers of the [limited partnership] units to non-US persons outside the United States pursuant to regulations promulgated under the Securities Act.” Finally, the offering memorandum explained that California Energy Investment Fund had relied on certain exemptions under the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) to avoid registration of the limited partnership units.⁷ If California Energy Investment Fund’s offering failed to satisfy the requirements of an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, the offering memorandum explained that WRCI, as general partner, was obligated to register California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units or terminate the offering.

⁶ The offering memorandum also informed potential investors that they may profit from their investments through California Energy Investment Fund’s future business activities with NextEra Energy Capital Holdings, after NextEra Energy Capital Holdings repaid California Energy Investment Fund the principal and interest due on the \$100 million loan for the Genesis Solar Energy Project. The offering memorandum states, “after the [l]oan [to NextEra Energy Capital Holdings] has been fully repaid or realized upon and all distributions to the [l]imited [p]artners in connection therewith have been made pursuant to the [California Energy Investment Fund] [limited] [p]artnership [a]greement, the [l]imited [p]artners may, by unanimous resolution (100% of [l]imited [p]artners voting) elect to make [an investment other than the loan]. Limited [p]artners who do not approve such investment will withdraw from the [l]imited [p]artnership.”

⁷ The offering memorandum stated that California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act based on “Section 4[(a)](2) of the Securities Act, Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act, and/or Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act.”

F. Seol's Solicitation Efforts

Between June 2012 and December 2013, while associated with Ameriprise, Seol travelled to South Korea and China to market investments in California Energy Investment Fund to foreign migration companies and attorneys. Seol made presentations concerning investments in California Energy Investment Fund to prospective foreign investors on 25 to 30 occasions.

As president of WRCI, Seol also entered into finder's agreements with multiple migration companies. The finder's agreements advised the migration companies that "[t]he [o]ffering [for the Genesis Solar Energy Project] will be made in accordance with Regulation S, Regulation D, and Section 4[(a)](2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended," and that "the terms 'offer' and 'sale' have the meanings specified in [S]ection 2(3) of the Securities Act." The finder's agreements strictly limited the migration companies' activities to identifying and introducing potential investors to California Energy Investment Fund. Seol provided subscription materials and qualifying documents, including the offering memorandum, to the migration companies. The migration companies, in turn, forwarded the information that Seol had provided to prospective foreign investors.

By December 2013, as a result of Seol's efforts, California Energy Investment Fund raised \$100 million in capital to invest in the Genesis Solar Energy Project. Approximately 200 foreign investors each invested \$500,000 in exchange for one limited partnership unit of California Energy Investment Fund. As detailed in California Energy Investment Fund's offering memorandum for the Genesis Solar Energy Project, California Energy Investment Fund transmitted \$100 million as a loan to NextEra Energy Capital Holdings in three tranches between March 2013 and December 2013. Each payment was evidenced by a promissory note between NextEra Energy Capital Holdings and California Energy Investment Fund. California Energy Investment Fund received more than \$92 million in interest on the loan tranches.

G. Seol's Compensation

In July 2014, after his association with Ameriprise ended, Seol began receiving a salary of \$6,000 per month from WRCI from the fees and expenses that WRCI received from the Genesis Solar Energy Project and other EB-5 projects. After January 2016, Seol's salary increased to \$9,000 per month.

In April 2015, Seol received more than \$21,000 as a distribution from WRCI to cover pass-through tax liabilities for the year ending on December 31, 2014, and, in April 2016, Seol received a distribution of more than \$57,000 to cover pass-through tax liabilities for the year ending on December 31, 2015. As of April 2016, Seol had received more than \$144,000 in salary from WRCI, and WRCI had received at least \$796,405 in management fees from California Energy Investment Fund.

H. The Yogurtland EB-5 Project

In October 2013, Seol, through WRCI, entered into a consulting agreement with YL Partners. As part of the consulting agreement, Seol agreed to assist YL Partners in its solicitation of a \$5 million investment pursuant to the EB-5 program. WRCI's services included identifying

potential EB-5 investors, performing due diligence investigations to qualify for approval under the EB-5 program, and overseeing the project. In return, WRCI was entitled to receive “an initial consulting fee of \$20,000 per Yogurtland franchise store development at commencement of identification of site location” and an annual consulting fee of \$15,000 per Yogurtland store owned and operated by YL Partners for the duration of its partnership.

I. Seol Conceals His Activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund from Ameriprise

Seol failed to disclose his activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund on Ameriprise annual compliance questionnaires that expressly required him to do so, and he repeatedly concealed his activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund from Ameriprise personnel when they periodically visited his office.⁸ In February 2012, for example, days after forming California Energy Investment Fund, Seol submitted responses to Ameriprise’s annual compliance questionnaire in which he attested that he was familiar with, and would abide by, the firm’s WSPs, and he represented, without disclosing his activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund, that he had disclosed all of his outside business activities to the firm and would update his disclosure and seek written approval before starting any new outside business activity. In addition, over the next two years, as Seol entered into the finder’s agreements with migration companies to locate investors for California Energy Investment Fund, traveled to South Korea and China to solicit investments in California Energy Investment Fund, negotiated loan agreements with NextEra Energy Capital Holdings, attained full investor participation of \$100 million for the Genesis Solar Energy Project, and transmitted the \$100 million to NextEra Capital Holdings for the Genesis Solar Energy Project, Seol submitted outside business activity disclosures and annual compliance questionnaires in which he falsely attested that he had disclosed all of his outside business activities as required by Ameriprise’s WSPs.⁹

During this same timeframe, Seol’s Ameriprise compliance examiner, Holly Hall, Ameriprise supervisor, Stephen Tetmeir, and supervising “Registered Principal Delegate,” James Zielke, conducted reviews of Seol’s office on six different occasions.¹⁰ During each of these reviews, Hall, Tetmeir, and Zielke asked Seol whether he had disclosed all his outside business activities to Ameriprise. Hall specifically reminded Seol of his obligation to disclose and receive

⁸ Seol also used two different non-Ameriprise email addresses when he conducted WRCI-related business.

⁹ Seol submitted three outside business activity disclosures, in August 2012, February 2013 and February 2014, respectively, and he submitted responses to Ameriprise’s annual compliance questionnaires in February 2013 and February 2014. In each instance, Seol attested that he understood and would abide by the Ameriprise’s WSPs, and he represented that he had disclosed all of his outside business activities to the firm.

¹⁰ Hall conducted reviews of Seol’s office in June 2012, March 2013, and February 2014. Tetmeir and Zielke conducted reviews of Seol’s office in August 2012, September 2012, and April 2013.

pre-approval for any new or existing outside business activity, regardless of whether he was receiving compensation. During each of the six office reviews, Seol advised Hall, Tetmeir, and Zielke that he had no new or existing outside business activity to disclose or update.

J. FINRA Investigates and Ameriprise Terminates Seol

In March 2014, FINRA staff sent Seol a request for information and documents in connection with its investigation of this case.¹¹ FINRA staff also sent a copy of the information and document request to Ameriprise. Ameriprise initiated an investigation upon receipt of FINRA's request.

Tetmeir arranged to meet with Seol at Seol's office in early-April 2014. Tetmeir and Zielke attended the meeting in person. Other Ameriprise personnel, including an Ameriprise investigator, attended the meeting via telephone. When questions about Seol's activities with WRCI arose, Seol admitted his activities related to WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund, but he claimed that his objective was to develop future business for Ameriprise. Seol did not disclose his consulting activities with YL Partners during the meeting.

Ameriprise promptly suspended Seol. In May 2014, Ameriprise terminated Seol for violating company policy related to undisclosed outside business activities.

II. Procedural History

In May 2016, the Department of Enforcement ("Enforcement") filed a three-cause complaint against Seol. The first cause of action alleged that Seol participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, in violation of NASD Rule 3040 and FINRA Rule 2010, because he solicited and sold investments in California Energy Investment Fund.¹² The second cause of action alleged that Seol engaged in undisclosed outside business activities, in violation of FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010, because he formed and incorporated WRCI and served as the company's CEO, CFO, president, secretary, and director and provided consulting services to YL Partners. The third cause of action alleged that Seol made false statements to Ameriprise, in violation of FINRA Rule 2010, because he failed to disclose his private securities transactions and outside business activities on the firm's annual compliance questionnaires on three occasions between February 2012 and February 2014.

In November 2016, prior to the hearing, the Hearing Panel granted a motion for partial summary disposition that Enforcement filed in the case. The Hearing Panel concluded, based on the undisputed facts, that Seol engaged in undisclosed outside business activities, and that Seol had made false statements to Ameriprise on the annual compliance questionnaires.

¹¹ The Commission also initiated an investigation of Seol's activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund. At the conclusion of its investigation, in July 2014, the Commission issued a no-action letter.

¹² We apply the rules in effect when the conduct occurred.

A two-day hearing took place in Los Angeles, California, in January 2017. The hearing focused on the remaining cause of action, specifically, whether Seol participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, and the sanctions that should be assessed against Seol for all violations alleged in the complaint. Three witnesses testified at the hearing – Seol, Tetmeir, and Hall.

The Hearing Panel issued its decision in May 2017. The Hearing Panel found that Seol participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, and it reiterated its findings that Seol had engaged in undisclosed outside business activities and made false statements on Ameriprise’s annual compliance questionnaires. The Hearing Panel imposed a unitary sanction, a bar, for the three violations. This appeal followed.

III. Discussion

The Hearing Panel determined that Seol participated in undisclosed private securities transactions, engaged in undisclosed outside business activities, and provided false statements on Ameriprise’s annual compliance questionnaires. We affirm the Hearing Panel’s findings.

A. Seol Participated in Undisclosed Private Securities Transactions

As an initial matter, the Hearing Panel found that Seol solicited investors through WRCI to purchase California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units; California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units were securities; and Seol failed to notify Ameriprise of his solicitations for these investments. The Hearing Panel therefore concluded that Seol engaged in undisclosed private securities transactions and violated NASD Rule 3040 and FINRA Rule 2010. We affirm these findings.

1. NASD Rule 3040

NASD Rule 3040 prohibits any person associated with a firm from participating in any manner in private securities transactions outside the regular course or scope of his employment without providing prior written notice to the firm. NASD Rule 3040(a), (b), (e)(1). If an associated person is compensated for the transactions, he must receive the firm’s written permission before engaging in the transactions.¹³ NASD Rule 3040(c)(1).

In order to find that Seol violated NASD Rule 3040, Enforcement must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units constituted “private securities transactions;” (2) Seol “participated” in the transactions; and (3) Seol participated in the transactions without providing Ameriprise with written notice.

¹³ FINRA Rule 2010, FINRA’s ethical standards rule, states that, “[a] member, in the conduct of his business, shall observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade.” A violation of any FINRA rule, including NASD Rule 3040, violates FINRA Rule 2010. See *Blair C. Mielke*, Exchange Act Release No. 75981, 2015 SEC LEXIS 3927, at *2 n.1 (Sept. 24, 2015). FINRA Rule 0140 subjects associated persons to FINRA Rule 2010.

NASD Rule 3040(a), (b); *Mielke*, 2015 SEC LEXIS 3927, at *28-43. If Seol actually received, or had the potential to receive, “selling compensation,” he also needed to obtain Ameriprise’s written approval prior to participating in the private securities transactions. NASD Rule 3040(c)(1).

Seol does not contest that he participated in the transactions; that he failed to provide Ameriprise with written notice of his participation in the transactions; and that he received selling compensation for participating in the transactions. Seol, however, does assert that California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units are not securities. We therefore focus our discussion on the first element of the analysis – whether California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units constitute private “securities” transactions within the meaning of NASD Rule 3040. The record in this case establishes that they are.

2. Seol’s Solicitation and Sales of California Energy Investment Fund’s Limited Partnership Units Constitute Private Securities Transactions

NASD Rule 3040 defines “private securities transaction” as “any securities transaction outside the regular course or scope of an associated person’s employment with a member, including, though not limited to, new offerings of securities which are not registered with the Commission.” NASD Rule 3040(e)(1). Seol does not contest that his solicitation and sales of California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units were outside the scope of his employment with Ameriprise.

Seol, however, disputes that the foreign investors’ investments with California Energy Investment Fund are securities within the meaning of the Securities Act or Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). Seol states that California Energy Investment Fund’s offering “fund[ed] a loan made by multiple limited partners to a single borrower . . . in exchange for participation in a qualified EB-5 program,” and that “participation in the Genesis Solar [Energy] Project created a loan participation agreement with no expectation of ‘profit.’” We disagree and find that California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units constitute “investment contracts,” which constitute securities under the Securities Act and Exchange Act.¹⁴ See *SEC v.*

¹⁴ The term “security” is defined as:

[A]ny note, stock, treasury stock, security future, security-based swap, bond, debenture, certificate of interest or participation in any profit-sharing agreement or in any oil, gas, or other mineral royalty or lease, any collateral-trust certificate, preorganization certificate or subscription, transferable share, *investment contract*, voting-trust certificate, certificate of deposit for a security, any put, call, straddle, option, or privilege on any security, certificate of deposit, or group or index of securities (including any interest therein or based on the value thereof), or any put, call, straddle, option, or privilege entered into on a national securities exchange relating to foreign currency, or in general, any instrument commonly known as a ‘security’; or any certificate of interest or participation in, temporary or interim certificate for, receipt for, or warrant or right to subscribe to or purchase, any of the foregoing

W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 298-99 (1946) (explaining that there is an investment contract, and consequently a security, where there is: (1) an investment of money, (2) in a common enterprise, (3) with an expectation of profits, (4) to come solely from the efforts of the promoter or a third party).

As an initial matter, the record clearly demonstrates that the foreign investors who participated in California Energy Investment Fund's offering purchased units in California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership. They did not purchase loans, loan participation agreements, or promissory notes.¹⁵ Second, the foreign investors' funds, or investments, were pooled into California Energy Investment Fund's common enterprise, the funding of a loan for the capitalization and development of the Genesis Solar Energy Project. Third, the foreign investors who purchased California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units became limited partners of the fund and played no role in the management of the enterprise. Finally, in return for their investment, California Energy Investment Fund's foreign investors expected to earn profits through the efforts of others, i.e., Seol and WRCI. Based on these facts, we find that California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units are securities under the Securities Act and Exchange Act.¹⁶ *See, e.g., SEC v. Merchant Capital, LLC*, 483 F.3d 747, 755 (11th Cir. 2007) (explaining that limited partnership interests are routinely treated as investment contracts); *Mayer v. Oil Field Sys. Corp.*, 721 F.2d 59, 65 (2d Cir. 1983) (explaining that a limited partnership interest "generally is a security because such an interest involves investment in a common enterprise with profits to come solely from the efforts of others."); *SEC v. Murphy*, 626 F.2d 633, 640-41 (9th Cir. 1980) ("Under the test for an investment contract . . . , a limited partnership generally is a security.").

[cont'd]

15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10) (emphasis added). The definition of a security under the Securities Act and Exchange Act is virtually identical and may be considered the same. *See United Hous. Found., Inc. v. Forman*, 421 U.S. 837, 847 n.12 (1975).

¹⁵ If the foreign investors' investments with California Energy Investment Fund had been structured as a loan or promissory note, such loan or promissory note would not have constituted invested capital under the EB-5 program. 8 C.F.R. § 204.6(e) ("A contribution of capital in exchange for a note, bond, convertible debt, obligation, or any other debt arrangement between the alien entrepreneur and the new commercial enterprise does not constitute a contribution of capital for the purposes of this part."). For this reason, we do not reach the issue of whether the foreign investors' investments with California Energy Investment Fund constituted securities under the family resemblance test articulated in *Reves v. Ernst & Young*, 494 U.S. 56, 63-64, 67 (1990) (explaining that the family resemblance test rebuts the presumption that a note is a security if the note in question "bears a strong resemblance (in terms of the four factors we have identified) to one of the enumerated categories of instrument[s].")

¹⁶ Although our independent application of the investment contracts test leads us to conclude that California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units are securities, we consider it persuasive that California Energy Investment Fund's offering memorandum identifies the limited partnership units as securities under the federal securities laws.

a. Foreign Investors in California Energy Investment Fund
Expected Profits

On appeal, Seol disputes that the foreign investors had an expectation of a profit. Seol specifies that the foreign investors expected to gain access to permanent US residency, not an appreciation in their capital investment. As explained above, however, we find that the foreign investors who purchased California Energy Investment Fund's limited partnership units expected profits, and that their investments in California Energy Investment Fund satisfied the investment contracts test for the definition of a security.¹⁷

As an initial matter, we note that, in the proceedings before the Hearing Panel, Seol did not testify that the foreign investors did not have any expectation of profit from their investments with California Energy Investment Fund. Rather, Seol stated that California Energy Investment Fund's foreign investors "had low-profit expectations" due to the interest rate associated with the loan to NextEra Energy Capital Holdings. When Seol testified at the hearing, he described two distinct means of the foreign investors profiting from their investments. Seol asserted that WRCI could elect not to take the full amount of its management fee, leaving funds available to distribute to California Energy Investment Fund's foreign investors. Alternatively, Seol noted that, if NextEra Energy Capital Holdings defaulted on a loan payment, the interest rate on the company's loan would rise to generate \$2 million in additional interest, and that the additional interest would result in a "surplus" that could be distributed to the foreign investors.

Moreover, we find that the precedent in this area reinforces that the foreign investors' expectation of permanent US residency and capital appreciation, i.e., profit, are not mutually exclusive concepts that would except their investments from the definition of a security under the Securities Act and Exchange Act. In *SEC v. Liu*, No. 16-974, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 181536, at *9-10 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 2016), for example, the defendant argued that "the [foreign] investors [in an EB-5 program] did not have a primary profit motive in their [c]apital [c]ontributions," and that the "[foreign] investors lacked an expectation of profits in their [c]apital [c]ontributions because the[ir] expected profits were so low that they were easily outpaced by the [a]dministrative [f]ees investors paid to participate in the first place."

In rejecting the defendant's argument, the district court explained that the offering memorandum had characterized the investments as securities, and that the foreign investors had put their capital at risk and expected profits, "albeit small ones." *Id.* at *11. The district court stated, "[t]he fact that investors paid a significant fee to invest their [c]apital [c]ontributions – a fee larger than their projected profits – does not alter th[e] conclusion" that the investments were securities. *Id.* at *12. The court observed, "nobody would dispute that EB-5 investors are motivated in significant part by obtaining lawful permanent residency in the [US]. But the fact

¹⁷ In connection with this argument, Seol asserts that the foreign investors did not receive profits from the "managerial efforts of others." The terms of California Energy Investment Fund's offering memorandum, however, negates this argument. The offering memorandum vested WRCI, and WRCI alone, with the significant managerial responsibility on which the success or failure of the Genesis Solar Energy Project depended.

that the acquisition of EB-5 shares comes with unrelated benefits does not somehow convert the shares from securities into something else.” *Id.* at *13.

Similarly, in *SEC v. Feng*, No. 15-9420, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103592, at *8-16 (C.D. Cal. June 29, 2017), the defendants argued that the EB-5 investors in that case did not expect to profit from their investments because the administrative fees the investors were required to pay exceeded the profits from their investments, and the investors were motivated by the desire to gain permanent resident status in the US. *Id.* In rejecting the argument, the district court reasoned:

[A]lthough it is undisputed EB-5 investors are also motivated to make investments to obtain permanent residency in the [US], the EB-5 regulations require, and the terms of the EB-5 investments demonstrate[,] capital contributions were made by [d]efendants’ clients for the purpose of generating a return. Accordingly, the [c]ourt finds the EB-5 investments are investment contracts and therefore securities governed by federal securities laws and regulations.

Id. at *15-16.

We, like the district court in *Liu* and *Feng*, find that the foreign investors who purchased California Energy Investment Fund’s limited partnership units expected profits, and their investments in California Energy Investment Fund satisfied the investment contracts test to qualify as a security under the Securities Act and Exchange Act.¹⁸

b. The Commission Made No Findings Concerning California Energy Investment Fund’s Limited Partnership Units

Seol also points to the Commission’s investigation of his activities with WRCI and California Energy Investment Fund, and he argues, “after investigating WRCI and the Genesis Solar [Energy] Project, the [Commission] did not determine that the partnership interests were private securities transactions.” Seol’s argument misses the point.

While we acknowledge that Commission staff investigated Seol, WRCI, and California Energy Investment Fund, and issued a no-action letter at the conclusion of its investigation, we note that the Commission made no specific findings concerning Seol, WRCI, or California Energy Investment Fund. To the contrary, the Commission’s no-action letter stresses that “the notice must in no way be construed as indicating that the party has been exonerated or that no action may ultimately result from the staff’s investigation.” The Commission’s investigation of

¹⁸ Seol states that he did not violate FINRA’s prohibition against undisclosed private securities transactions because none of the foreign investors who participated in California Energy Investment Fund’s offering were customers of Ameriprise, and Ameriprise was not “associated with the [Genesis Solar Energy] [P]roject in any way.” Seol misreads NASD Rule 3040. The rule applies with equal force regardless of whether the buyers of the securities at issue are customers of the respondent’s member firm.

Seol, WRCI, and California Energy Investment Fund, and related no-action letter, provides us with no information concerning the scope of the Commission's investigation or the conclusions of Commission staff. Consequently, we find that the Commission's investigation and no-action letter have no bearing here.

* * *

The record establishes that Seol participated in private securities transactions without the required written notice or written approval. We therefore affirm the Hearing Panel's determination that Seol violated NASD Rule 3040 and FINRA Rule 2010.

B. Seol Engaged in Undisclosed Outside Business Activities

Second, on summary disposition, the Hearing Panel found that Seol "held ownership and officer positions with WRCI," "expected to be compensated for his efforts," and failed to provide Ameriprise with prompt written notice of the activities. The Hearing Panel concluded that Seol engaged in undisclosed outside business activities and violated FINRA Rules 3270 and 2010. We affirm the Hearing Panel's findings.¹⁹

1. FINRA Rule 3270

FINRA Rule 3270 governs outside business activities and states that, "[n]o registered person may be an employee, independent contractor, sole proprietor, officer, director or partner of another person, or be compensated, or have the reasonable expectation of compensation, from any other person as a result of any business activity outside the scope of the relationship with his or her member firm, unless he or she has provided prior written notice to the member, in such form as specified by the member."²⁰ The record in this case establishes that Seol engaged in undisclosed outside business activities.

2. Seol's Role in WRCI and Consulting Services to YL Partners Violated FINRA Rule 3270

In March 2011, February 2012, February 2013, and February 2014, Seol submitted annual compliance questionnaires to Ameriprise. On each form, Seol attested that he was familiar with, and would abide by, Ameriprise's written procedures, including those procedures related to outside business activities. In August 2011, Seol submitted an annual outside business activity disclosure form to Ameriprise. On the form, Seol specifically attested that he understood that he needed to request pre-approval before participating in any outside business activity, and

¹⁹ Seol does not challenge the Hearing Panel's findings concerning his outside business activities.

²⁰ A violation of FINRA Rule 3270 constitutes a violation of FINRA Rule 2010. *See Dep't of Enforcement v. v. McGee*, Complaint No. 2012034389202, 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 33, at *62 n.34 (FINRA NAC July 18, 2016), *aff'd*, Exchange Act Release No. 80314, 2017 SEC LEXIS 987 at *1 (Mar. 27, 2017), *aff'd*, 733 F. App'x 571 (2d Cir. 2018).